
 
PROCEEDINGS OF THE 

TECHNICAL ADVISORY COMMITTEE 
Wednesday, March 12th, 2008 – 1:30 p.m. 

Grand Forks City Hall Conference Room A-102 
 
 

CALL TO ORDER 
 
Earl Haugen, Chairman, called the March 12th, 2008, meeting of the MPO Technical Advisory 
Committee to order at 1:36 p.m. 
 
CALL OF ROLL 
 
On a Call of Roll the following members were present:  Kent Ehrenstrom, MNDOT-Bemidji; 
Jane Williams, Grand Forks Traffic Engineer; Nancy Ellis, East Grand Forks Planner; Charles 
Durrenberger (Proxy for Brad Gengler), Grand Forks Planner; Arden Striefel (Proxy for Paul 
Benning), NDDOT-Bismarck (via conference call); Brad Bail (proxy for Dean Wieland), East 
Grand Forks Consulting Engineer; and Teri Nelson (Proxy for Dale Bergman), Public 
Transportation. 
 
Staff present were:  Earl Haugen, MPO Executive Director and Peggy McNelis, MPO Executive 
Assistant. 
 
Guests present were:  Steve Grabill and Marie Baker, Ulteig Engineers. 
 
INTRODUCTIONS 
 
Haugen stated that because there are some new faces here today he would ask that everyone 
please introduce themselves. 
 
DETERMINATION OF A QUORUM 
 
Haugen declared a quorum was present.   
 
MATTER OF APPROVAL OF THE FEBRUARY 13TH, 2008 MINUTES OF THE 
TECHNICAL ADVISORY COMMITTEE 
 
MOVED BY ELLIS, SECONDED BY EHRENSTROM, TO APPROVE THE FEBRUARY 
13TH, 2008, MINUTES OF THE TECHNICAL ADVISORY COMMITTEE, AS 
SUBMITTED. 
 
MOTION CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY. 
 
 

1 



PROCEEDINGS OF THE 
TECHNICAL ADVISORY COMMITTEE 
Wednesday, March 12th, 2008 
 
 
MATTER OF PUBLIC HEARING ON LONG RANGE TRANSPORTATION PLAN 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
Haugen referred to the staff report, included in the packet, and pointed out that it identifies that a 
public hearing on the Long Range Transportation Plan is required, therefore it was scheduled to 
take place at this meeting.  He explained that this public hearing is the result of the MPO being 
asked by it’s lead review agency, the NDDOT, to address some items which need clarification 
from our SAFETEA-LU compliance efforts we began last year, and the public hearing is one of 
those main issues needing to be addressed. 
 
Haugen reported that in addition to the staff report copies of the public hearing notice, a portion 
of the Environmental Coordination and Mitigation document, and the 2035 Long Range 
Transportation Plan Executive Summary were also included.   
 
Haugen referred to a power point presentation and went over it briefly. 
 
Presentation/Review ensued. 
 
Haugen commented that the two land use maps are from the Grand Forks 2035 Land Use Plan 
and the East Grand Forks 2035 Land Use Plan, and are from the Street and Highway sections of 
those plans, otherwise the remainder of those sections, which include housing, employment and 
traffic projections remain unchanged.   
 
Haugen stated that NDDOT also asked us to expand the environmental section, including 
producing a map which identified all the known wetlands and other environmental areas within 
our study area.   
 
Haugen referred to a power point slide, and explained that it is not included in today’s packet, 
but is a part of the Executive Summary, and consists of a document called “SAFTETA-LU 
Compliance As It Relates To Our Alternative Transportation Modes Plan”.  He stated that 
because this information is included in the Executive Summary he did not include a separate 
document in the packet.  He added that the Executive Summary document has also been 
available in it’s entirety on the MPO website for the past ten days as well.  
 
Haugen commented that this document is a summary of our Public Participation Plan, Goals and 
Objectives, discussion of our Demographics, and ITS information.  He added that it also 
summarizes the Street and Highway Plan, the Alternative Transportation Modes Plan, and the 
Coordinated Human Services Plan. 
 
Haugen opened the public hearing.   
 
There was no one present for discussion.   
 
Haugen closed the public hearing. 

 2 
 



PROCEEDINGS OF THE 
TECHNICAL ADVISORY COMMITTEE 
Wednesday, March 12th, 2008 
 
 
COMMENTS/QUESTIONS: 
 
Ehrenstrom referred to the transit capital page of the document, paragraph three, and questioned 
whether or not the statement  – “In addition to these federal funds, over the capital, after the 
maximum has been utilized properly” – should say the minimum has been utilized instead.  He 
explained that the reason he asks is because you have to utilize a minimum of the federal share 
for operation.  Haugen responded that that is correct, but added that there is also a 50% 
maximum as well.  Ehrenstrom argued that you can use as much as you want for operating.  
Haugen responded that that is incorrect, explaining that you are capped at 50%.  He added that 
capital is 80%, but that is referring to the operating side of things.  Ehrenstrom said that he is 
referring to the 5307 section of funding, and said that as far as their contracts are concerned there 
is a 50% minimum for operating costs.  Haugen responded that this statement says the same 
thing, that 50% is 50% and can be a maximum or a minimum amount.  Ehrenstrom reported that 
there have been times in the past when they actually contracted for more than 50% for operations 
so in essence their state funding is reduced.  Williams asked if the statement could say required 
50% instead.  Haugen responded that the difference is that in North Dakota there isn’t anything 
left of the 5307 funds after the operating maximum is reached to go towards capital, but this isn’t 
true for East Grand Forks, and that is what he is trying to state with this statement, that there is 
capital funds available in 5307 for East Grand Forks, which isn’t the case for Grand Forks.  
Ehrenstrom added that this is true after you have reached your contract amount of 50% allotted 
to operating, which would mean a minimum of 50% has to go toward operation.  Haugen agreed, 
adding that he still feels that is what the statement means, just worded in a different way.  
 
MOVED BY DURRENBERGER, SECONDED BY WILLIAMS, TO APPROVE 
FORWARDING A RECOMMENDATION TO THE MPO EXECUTIVE POLICY BOARD 
THAT THEY APPROVE AND ADOPT THE EXECUTIVE SUMMARY OF THE MPO 
LONG RANGE TRANSPORTATION PLAN. 
 
MOTION CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY.      
 
MATTER OF DRAFT SCHOOL TRAFFIC CONTROL DEVICE STRATEGY STUDY 
REPORT 
 
Haugen reported that personnel from Ulteig Engineers are here today for a brief presentation.   
 
Steve Grabill, Ulteig Engineers, stated that an e-mail was sent out to the Technical Advisory 
Committee last week that included a copy of the Draft School Traffic Control Device Strategy 
Study report.  He explained that the document identifies traffic control strategies that would 
provide a uniform basis for traffic control applications for all the schools located within the City 
of Grand Forks.   
 
Grabill referred to a presentation (a copy of which is included in the file and available upon 
request) and reported that Ulteig Engineers was brought in back in October to do the study.  He 
stated that the first public meeting was held in December to get some initial input.  He added that 

 3 
 



PROCEEDINGS OF THE 
TECHNICAL ADVISORY COMMITTEE 
Wednesday, March 12th, 2008 
 
 
they have been working with MPO staff and the City Engineer on the first review of the draft 
report, so what you have been given does include the feedback they have received to-date.  He 
said that they also visited with the school principals this morning to garner any additional input 
they might have as well.  He stated that generally only limited feedback was received, however 
they did get affirmation that this is the direction they wanted the study to go, although there is 
still some concern out there as to how these standards might affect each of the individual 
schools.  He said that they explained that it really isn’t the job of the report to go through and 
apply the strategies, that that is a future step, and the MPO and the City are already currently 
active in reviewing the safe route to school maps and are working with A.T.A.C. to look at some 
of the individual schools.   
 
Grabill reported that A.T.A.C. has been given a copy of the Draft School Traffic Control Device 
Strategy Study report and they are using the preliminary recommendations in the report in their 
analysis of the individual school sites and locations. 
 
Grabill commented that the study has completed an analysis of the City’s inventory.  He 
explained that their intent is not to look at individual sites and provide individual site 
recommendations, but rather to look at what is going on on a system-wide level in order to 
identify inconsistencies with current devices and then to develop a policy guide selecting the 
preferred control device as well as a strategy to convert the crossing to a more uniform traffic 
control. 
 
Grabill stated that having prepared the draft report they are now in the process of facilitating 
input, both with the school district and the Ad-Hoc Committee members, and will hold a public 
open house in April. 
 
Presentation continued with extensive discussion on various signage alternatives. 
 
Grabill commented that they have prepared a three-step process for making decisions on 
appropriate traffic control within the school areas (see report for illustrations): 

1. Determine the viability of a school crossing 
2. Look at vehicle/pedestrian conflict 
3. Consider innovative devices if conflicts warrant 

 
Haugen stated that the safe route to school maps are key components to the strategy and we have 
had safe route to school maps available for the Grand Forks and East Grand Forks communities 
for the past five or so years.  He said that as we are finding with the signs, the manual updates 
what should be shown on a safe route to school map as well.  He referred to a power point slide 
and pointed out that it represents how we are updating the safe route to school maps to better 
provide the information the manual requires.  He said that the principle issue is to show what 
traffic control devices there are at intersections, and also to show where our existing crosswalks 
are located.  He commented that Ms. Nelson is in the process of doing this, and he noticed that 
there is still some signage missing on the maps so staff will go over them and make sure all 
signage is shown.  He said that once this is done, they can meet with Ms. Williams to make sure 

 4 
 



PROCEEDINGS OF THE 
TECHNICAL ADVISORY COMMITTEE 
Wednesday, March 12th, 2008 
 
 
we are signing and routing people in the best manner, and then we can work with the individual 
schools to share this information with them to better explain why we are doing things the way we 
are. 
 
Grabill reported that, assuming they have a public input meeting in early April, the plan is to 
submit a final report to the MPO by the end of April, per the contract.  He stated that the project 
has been on schedule, and they have been getting good input, so all-in-all it has been a rewarding 
process. 
 
Information only. 
 
MATTER OF DRAFT AMENDMENT TO THE 2008 MPO ANNUAL UNIFIED WORK 
PROGRAM 
 
Haugen reported that there are three things being addressed in this update: 

1. Studies that carried over into 2008 
a. School Traffic Control Device Strategy Study 
b. Collector/Collector Intersection Strategy Study 

2. Received verification of actual 2008 funding 
a. Additional $422,689 from North Dakota and $41,112 from Minnesota 
b. $98,948 in carry-over monies which is an increase of about $50,000 from 

what we originally thought 
3. Change cost of ITS Regional Architectural Update reduced from $47,000 to 

$8,000.   
 
Haugen stated that the additional monies were distributed as follows:  1) Downtown Plan Update 
to $40,000 and 2) MN/4th Avenue Corridor Study to $50,000. 
 
MOVED BY WILLIAMS, SECONDED BY DURRENBERGER, TO APPROVE 
FORWARDING A RECOMMENDATION TO THE MPO EXECUTIVE POLICY BOARD 
THAT THEY APPROVE AMENDMENT #2 TO THE 2008 UNIFIED PLANNING WORK 
PROGRAM. 
 
MOTION CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY. 
 
MATTER OF DRAFT 2007 ANNUAL LISTING OF OBLIGATIONS 
 
Haugen said that this is the second time we have done this since the SAFETEA-LU requirement 
went into effect.  He referred to the information in the packet, and pointed out that the principle 
part of the document are the tables.  He explained that these tables show a comparison of the 
projected cost and federal funding for individual projects versus the actual cost and federal 
funding obligated.  He stated that the other thing we had to do was to identify whether or not 
there were any accommodations for bikes/peds, and if so how they were incorporated into the 
project.  He said that part of the SAFETEA-LU requirement is that we try to make these tables 

 5 
 



PROCEEDINGS OF THE 
TECHNICAL ADVISORY COMMITTEE 
Wednesday, March 12th, 2008 
 
 
resemble the T.I.P. tables, which is what we did by using the same table format, but highlighting 
in yellow the amount actually obligated for each project. 
 
Haugen referred to the tables and went over them briefly. 
 
Haugen stated that the first East Grand Forks project needs to be changed.  He explained that 
instead of what they have shown for the state contribution, it should be $107,095 and the local 
amount should be $35,205.   
 
Haugen commented that this document, per SAFETEA-LU language, suggests that it should be 
prepared within three months after the end of the year.  He explained that in prior years this was 
a stand-alone document, but the NDDOT and Federal Highway have asked us to include this in 
our T.I.P. document, so your next T.I.P. document will also include an appendix that illustrates 
the annual listing of obligations. 
 
Haugen stated that with the following corrections, staff would recommend the Technical 
Advisory Committee forward a recommendation to the MPO Executive Policy Board to approve 
the Annual Listing of Obligations, and to request staff continue to work with Grand Forks 
Transit personnel to get their two line items filled in: 

1. Grand Forks 40th Street Project – Include in the remark section that a sidepath, or 
off-road path, and a sidewalk were included in the project. 

2. Change state contribution to the East Grand Forks Fixed-Route to $35,205.   
 
MOVED BY ELLIS, SECONDED BY WILLIAMS TO APPROVE FORWARDING A 
RECOMMENDATION TO THE MPO EXECUTIVE POLICY BOARD THAT THEY 
APPROVE THE 2007 ANNUAL LISTING OF OBLIGATIONS SUBJECT TO NOTED 
CORRECTIONS AND TO REQUEST STAFF CONTINUE TO WORK WITH GRAND 
FORKS TRANSIT PERSONNEL TO GET THEIR TWO LINE ITEMS FILLED IN. 
 
MOTION CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY.   
 
MATTER OF DRAFT SCOPE OF WORK FOR THE REGIONAL ITS 
ARCHITECTURAL UPDATE 
 
Haugen reported that staff has worked out an agreement with A.T.A.C. to update our Regional 
ITS Architectural Plan.  He stated that A.T.A.C. has worked with the three North Dakota MPOs 
and the State to create the regional architecture for the state, as well as the three MPOs.  He 
added that the other two MPOs have A.T.A.C. under contract to update their Regional ITS 
Architectural Plans already, so it would be beneficial for us to do so as well. 
 
Haugen referred to the scope of work included in the packet, and explained that it outlines what 
needs to be done to bring us into compliance with FHWA requirements. 
 

 6 
 



PROCEEDINGS OF THE 
TECHNICAL ADVISORY COMMITTEE 
Wednesday, March 12th, 2008 
 
 
MOVED BY BAIL, SECONDED BY EHRENSTROM TO APPROVE FORWARDING A 
RECOMMENDATION TO THE MPO EXECUTIVE POLICY BOARD TO APPROVE THE 
PROPOSAL SUBMITTED BY A.T.A.C., AND TO ENTER INTO A CONTRACT WITH 
THEM. TO UPDATE OUR REGIONAL ITS ARCHITECTURAL PLAN. 
 
MOTION CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY. 
 
MATTER OF STATUS OF MINNESOTA/4TH AVENUE CORRIDOR STUDY RFP 
 
Ellis reported that she presented the RFP for the Minnesota/4th Avenue Corridor Study to the 
Technical Advisory Committee for approval in January.  She said that the RFP was sent out and 
one proposal was received, that being from Kadmaras, Lee, and Jackson (KLJ).   
 
Ellis commented that KLJ’s  proposal did meet the scope of work in the RFP so the selection 
committee met and interviewed them, resulting in their recommending staff negotiate with KLJ 
and enter into a contract to perform the Minnesota/4th Avenue Corridor Study not to exceed 
$50,000. 
 
Information only. 
  
 
MATTER OF STATUS OF DOWNTOWN PLAN UPDATE RFP 
 
Haugen reported that the RFP for the Downtown Plan Update was sent out and three proposals 
received – 1) SRF; 2) SEH; and 3) MMM Group.  He explained that the selection committee will 
meet and interview the three firms on Friday, and a recommendation will then be forwarded to 
the MPO Executive Policy Board as to which firm the committee is recommending be put under 
contract to perform the study. 
 
Information only. 
 
OTHER BUSINESS 
 

1. NDDOT Workshop 
 
Haugen said that he just wanted to remind everyone about the NDDOT Regional Workshop on 
April 2nd.  He explained that the workshop is being put on by Upper Great Plains Transportation 
Institute at the Hilton Garden Inn, beginning at 10:00 a.m. and going until 3:00 p.m..  He stated 
that they are requesting people register on their website if they plan on attending. 
 

2. Section 5317 Mobility Enhancements RFP 
 

 7 
 



PROCEEDINGS OF THE 
TECHNICAL ADVISORY COMMITTEE 
Wednesday, March 12th, 2008 
 
 
Ehrenstrom asked if Mr. Haugen had been notified of the Section 5317 Mobility Enhancement 
RFP.  Haugen responded that he did receive an e-mail from Barb regarding that.  He added that 
he did ask that she forward more detailed information on this, but has not yet received it. 
 
Haugen explained that what Mr. Ehrenstrom is referring to is the New Freedom Funds.  He said 
that on the North Dakota side, on April 9th, which is also our regularly scheduled Technical 
Advisory Committee meeting, a big human service coordination meeting will be held on this in 
Bismarck.  He stated that many members of the Technical Advisory Committee will most likely 
be attending that meeting, therefore we will be canvassing members prior to the April 9th 
meeting to determine if a quorum will be available or not, and if not whether or not an alternative 
meeting date should be scheduled. 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
 
MOVED BY DURRENBERGER, SECONDED BY ELLIS, TO ADJOURN THE MARCH 
12TH, 2008, MEETING OF THE TECHNICAL ADVISORY COMMITTEE AT 2:54 P.M. 
 
MOTION CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY. 
 
Respectfully submitted by, 
 
Peggy McNelis,  
Executive Assistant 
 
 
 
 

 8 
 


	CALL TO ORDER
	CALL OF ROLL
	INTRODUCTIONS
	DETERMINATION OF A QUORUM
	MATTER OF DRAFT SCHOOL TRAFFIC CONTROL DEVICE STRATEGY STUDY REPORT


<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /All
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Warning
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJDFFile false
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /LeaveColorUnchanged
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments false
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /Description <<
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000500044004600206587686353ef901a8fc7684c976262535370673a548c002000700072006f006f00660065007200208fdb884c9ad88d2891cf62535370300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef653ef5728684c9762537088686a5f548c002000700072006f006f00660065007200204e0a73725f979ad854c18cea7684521753706548679c300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /FRA <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020b370c2a4d06cd0d10020d504b9b0d1300020bc0f0020ad50c815ae30c5d0c11c0020ace0d488c9c8b85c0020c778c1c4d560002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken voor kwaliteitsafdrukken op desktopprinters en proofers. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /PTB <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents for quality printing on desktop printers and proofers.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /NoConversion
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /NA
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure true
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles true
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /NA
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice


